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The city of Geneva lies on the banks of the southward flowing Fox River,
37 miles west of Chicago. The seat of Kane County, Geneva's Physical
characteristics are similar to neighboring Fox Valley communities: wooded hills

peripheries.,

The Central Geneva Historic District encompasses most of the southern half
of the town as it was originally platted. A great deal of consideration was
given to the homogeneity of the architecture within this district. The area wag
originally residential with most commerce taking place on West State Street and,
though the area has seen steadily encroaching southward commercial growth, it has
kept the character of its original state. The Central Geneva Historic District
encompasses most of the Second Ward in central Geneva. The area is bounded on
the east by the Fox River and moving west, the district encompasses the lower
portion of the blocks from the Fox River to North Fourth Street including those
buildings with frontage on West State Street, the exception being a significant
building on North Second Street for which the Boundary makes a slight northerly
Jog. At Fourth Street, the boundary moves to the south side of West State
Street and continues west to South Sixth Street. A building located on the
northwest corner of South Sixth and Fulton Streets has been included in the
district because of its historical relationship to other structures. South Street
forms the southern border of the district with an outwarad exception made to
inelude the buildings at the southwest corner of South and South Fourth Streets
and the southeast corner of South and South First Streets.

Land use within the district is varied. Pudblic, commercial and private
bproperties can be found here, Commercial properties designed specifically for
that use are located, for the most rart, on or within a block of West State Street.
The other remaining commercial structures are converted former residences. FPublic
buildings include a hospital, public library, city hall, and--most importantly--
the courthouse. It is the latter structure that forms the focal point of the
Geneva Historic District.

Residential lots are varied, with most houses set back at least 30 feet from
the street. "Period shops" are confined primarily to South Third Street, with a
few others located on South First and South Second Streets. While these buildings
have been altered to meet the needs of a commercial business, the overall
architectural integrity still exists. Rather than detract from the district's
character these, "period shops" unobtrusively integrate with surrounding histcric
structures.

South First Street (Illinois Highway 31) and West State Street (I1linois
Highway 38) are the only two principal arteries within the district. Geneva's
commercial area, located on both sides of West State Street, is the northern
boundary. On the south, the district is bounded by South Street. South of
this street, the occurrence of intrusions is frequent. The Fox River represents




FHR-8-300A
(11/78)
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
HERITAGE CONSERVATION AND RECREATION SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

CONTINUATION SHEET Description ITEM NUMBER 7 PAGE 2

the eastern edge of the district. South Sixth Street forms the western boundary
because a well defined shift in architectural quality is evident on South Seventh
Street. Buildings within the district are unified by similarity in architectural
5tyles and date, and a sense of place is distinective here.

The majority of houses in the Geneva Historic District are two-story frame
structures which date from 1840 to 1900. BSeveral of these residences, moreover, are
among the oldest existing buildings in Ceneva. Of the older houses, most are
vernacular in style and built of local riverstone. The district is rarticularly
outstanding in the many fine representatives of mid- to late nineteenth-century
architectural styles. The most notable structures within the district include the
Greek Revival Unitarian Church (No. 9); Cothic Revival Loveday House (No. 23);
Italianate Augustus Herrington House, Moore House #2, and Plato House (No. 6, No. 20,
No. 36); Neoclassical Charles B. Wells House (No. 19); Federal Revival George
Patten House and Isaac Wilson House #1 (No. 12 and No. 50); Prairie School Hoyt
House (No. 35); and vernacular riverstone buildings, Eben Conant House and Walter
House (No. & and No. 5). The Kane County Courthouse is the only structure in the
district, aside from spires of the three churches, to exceed three stories.

Geneva's reputation as a scenic shopping area has contributed to the
maintenance, if not the restoration, of clder buildings, especially zlong Scuth
Third Street. Consequently, the dominant atmosphere of the district is tree lined
and generally well tended. Intrusions, where they exist, are minimal. The largest
intrusion is the Community Hospital, which is located on the western half of the
block between South Second, South Third, Fultcn and Franklin Streets. An adjecining
structure, the historic Dodson House is a part of the hospital complex and its
architectural quality scmewhat negates the visual intrusion of the newer building.
Another intrusion is the brick Tllinois Bell building on the southwest corner of
South First and James Streets. The structure's small size makes it less noticeable
than the Community Hospital intrusion. Parking lots pose a minor problem sgs
intrusions, as by far the main part of parking space is limited to the street
frontage.

-
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in 1848, with the county governed by a board of Supervisors rather than
commissioners. Geneva retained the town systen until 1858 when it was officially
incerporated as g village. 1In 1887, in response to a need for better organization,
the people of Geneva voted to change to g city form or govermment. It was this
time that the city of Geneva was formally established, and a mayor/council system

and continued Propserity was the town's desirable commercia]l location. Geneva was
in a choice location to meet the needs of both the traveler and new settler. By
1840, there were three general Stores, two hotels, two blacksmiths, a woog shop,
and & swamill. The town's industries, likewise, benefited from a location near
the agricultural resources and close proximity to the urban market, Packed

meat, butter, cheese, milled grains, and later glucose and flax were all
brocessed in Geneva,. Virtually all of the town's early industries were located
along the Fox River, It was the railroad, however, that brought large industry to
Geneva. Prior to 1879, light industry was predominant in the town. Although
Geneva's bopuiation was only 997 in 1900, several medium-sized industries were
loecated there, including Appleton Manufacturing, Howell Foundry, Bennet Milling
Company, and Pope Glucose Company. The latter was perhaps the mosgt important of
the manufacturers until 1903, when it was destroyed by fire, Ironically, the

Pope Glucose Company hed provided what little fire protection the town had until
the 1890'8, when a fire station and a pressuriged water system brought relative
safety from fires.

Geneva while working on the railroad. After completion of the railroag, many
immigrants returned with their families to settle in Geneva. These immigrants
arrived in large numbers; at the end of the nineteenth century, it was estimated
that no less than half of the people in Ceneva were of Swedish descent. This
group of hard working, devout individuals contributed much to Geneva's heritage.

As the home of many citified, educated immigrants, Geneva has from the
beginning had a large number of cultursl amenities, sometimes uncommon +to the
frontier life., The first settlers established a school, and since then, education
has been or great importance to the beople of Geneva. As early as 1842, Geneva
had a doector apd a Harvard educated lawyer in residence and by 1870, several
Geneva-born men were becoming prominent in the legal profession throughout
northern Illinois. Religion was also important to the early Geneva settlers

¥
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and by the 1850's, several groups built churches, among them the Unitarians,
Methodists, Congregationalists, Swedish Lutherans, and Disciples of Christ. Of
these, the Unitarian and Congregationalist churches still remain; the Unitarian
Church is situated in the historic district. In 1908, a hospital was founded

and in 189k, a library for the community was established.

Civic improvement to Geneva in the late nineteenth century inecluded the
establishment of a new water plant, pumping station, and water mains in 1896,
During that same year, electricity was brought to the city. Intra-city and
inter-city electrice railways, meant to link the Fox River Valley towns, were
operating in Geneva in 1896, and by 1901, connected the valley in a continuous
network from Aurora to Carpentersville. A newspaper had been in ongoing
Tublication since 1847, and several printing shops had already been in business
during the same period.

SITES AND STRUCTURES OF SPECIAL STGNIFICANCE:

Numbers refer tc the accompanying map. When more than one area of significance
applies, the greater is mentioned first,

1. MeKINLEY HOUSE
118 South River Lane
Built in 1843
George McKinley built this house for his daughter, Eliza, who

married Lyman German. This was one of the first marriage
licenses issued in Kane County.
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

2. O'BRIEN HOUSE
208 South River Lane
Built c. 185k
Originally, this building may have been a small school
house. The structure was named for John O'Brien, a
local laborer, who occupied it in 1859,
HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE
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3. GENEVA CITY HALL
22 Bouth First Street
Built in 1844, with additions in 1856 and 1912
The city hall once served as the second county courthouse
in 1844k, However, to meet new needs, the building was
remodeled in 1856 and 1912.
HISTCRICAL SIGNIFICANCE

L. EBEN CONANT HOUSE
208 South First Street
Built e. 184k
A good example of local riverstone construction.
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

5. WALTER HOUSE
301 South First Street
Built c. 1855 by John Rudolph Schmoldt
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

6. AUGUSTUS HERRINGTON HOUSE
L16 South First Street
Built e. 1851
Augustus Herrington, the eldest son of the city father,
J. C. Herrington, built this residence for himself.
ARCHITECTURAL AND HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

T. CLANCY HOUSE

503 South First Street

Built e. 1867
Clancy was listed in the 1859 directory as a laborer
"for Chicego and Galena Railroad." At that time, he
lived on railrcad property located south of the tracks.
Clancy purchased a block at First and South Streets in
1856 and he was listed as living there in the 1867
directory. The house is still in the possession of the
Clancy family.

HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

8. EDDOWES DRUG STORE
12 North Second Street
Built c. 1870
Moved to its present location in 1924 from original site

cn West State Street.
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE
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10.

1.

12.

13.

UNITARIAN CHURCH

South Second and James Streetg

Built in 1843
The Unitarian Church is the oldest existing church in
Geneva. Its architeectural qualities were noted in a HABS
survey of 1934k-36,

HISTORICAL AND ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

COMMERCIAL BUILDING

11-13 South Second Street

Date unknown
This building was originally the residence of Benjamin Boyes,
cne of the original incorporators of the Disciples of Christ
congregation., He left Geneva to go to Northfield, Illinois,
only to return in 1870.

ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

GENEVA PUBLIC LIBRARY

2T South Second Street

Built in 1908
The property was deeded to the city of Geneva to be held
in trust by the Geneva Hall Company. 1In 1908, the
building was constructed from a grant from Andrew Carnegie
for $7,500.

HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

GEORGE PATTEN HOUSE

12k South Second Street

Built in 1857
This house temporarily served as the Kane County
Courthouse between 1890 and 1892.

HISTORICAL AND ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

SMITH HOUSE

227 South Second Street

Built c. 1854 by George Scott
The house was built by Scott who later sold it to
Michael Smith in 1866. Clark and Long Builders then
remodeled and enlarged the house for the
Thomas Clark Family.

HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE
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14, SCOTT HOUSE

228 South Second Street

Built c¢. 1850 with additions in 1851 and 1854
Charles and Mary Ann Scott bought the house for $30 in
1850 and the central part of the structure was built in
1851. A south wing was added in 1854 by John Dearborn,
the second owner. In 1871, the well known Wealthy and
Julius Alexander traded their farm for this house.
Their descendents occupied the residence until 1977,

HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

15. TISAAC WILSON HOUSE #92
328 South Second Street
Built in 1876
This was the second Geneva home of the prominent
Judge Wilson.
HISTORICAL AND ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

16. DODSON HOUSE - COMMUNITY HOSPITAL
501 South Second Street
Built <. 1890
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

17. KANE COUNTY COURTHOUSE
South Third between James and Campbell Streets
Built in 1892 by W. J. Edbrooke and J. P. Burnham
The courthouse is an important symbol and center of Kane
County. It is constructed of red limestone, red brick,
and with an iron frame.
HISTORICAL AND ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

18. HULL BUILDING
101 Scuth Third Street
Built c. 1870
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

19, CHARLES B. WELLS HOUSE
220 South Third Street
Built in 1850
This was the home of the prominent Geneva lawyer, C. B. Wells.
It also briefly served as g hospital in the early twentieth
century. It was documented in the HABS survey of 1934-36,

ARCHITECTURAL AND HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE
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20. BERRY HOUSE
227 South Third Street
Built in 185k
The lot was bought by Samuel Berry and later sold to
John Dearbern for $150.
HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

21. WARD HOUSE
300 South Third Street
Built in 1850 with remodeling in 1870 by John Schmoldt
The builder was a county recorder. He remodeled the
house inte its present Victorian appearance in 1870,
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

22, SACKETT HOUSE
302 Scuth Third Street
Built in 1868 by Clark and Long
Clark and Long constructed this house for $1,000. The
structure was sold in 1868 to a private owner. In
190k, the Aurcrs Brewing Company bought the building.
HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

23. LOVEDAY HOUSE
328 South Third Street
Built c. 1869
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

24. MOORE HOUSE #1

Lok South Third Street

Built e. 1862
The area where the Moore House #1 is located was once
being developed as a neighborhood for large houses,
Moore's house occupied the north half of the block. In
the 1840's, Moore was a mill owner. He was later one
of the organizers of Geneva's first bank in 1856.

HISTORICAL AND ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

25. 8T. MARK'S EPTSCOPAL CHURCH
South Fourth and Franklin Streets
Built in 1868
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

P
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26

27

28

29

30

31

32

SCHONES (JONES) HOUSE

202 South Fourth Street

Built in 1856
Schones, a stone mason from Germany, quarried the stone
and built his own house in 1856. His name was Americanized
to Jones in 1859.

ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

LARRABFE HOUSE

327 South Fourth Street

Built in 185b
W. Larrabee came to Geneva as secretary of the railroad.
He served as the major of Geneva in 1879.

HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

CHARLES PATTEN HOUSE
L03 South Fourth Street
Built in 1851
Charles Patten was one of Geneva's first settlers.
The structure was moved inp 1891 to its bresent location.
HISTORICAL AND ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

MOORE HOUSE #2

202 South Fourth Street
Built in 186L4
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

WELLS HOUSE #2
128 South Fifth Street
Built in 1854 vy Richarad Winship
The frame structure was sold to Charles Wells in 1857.
SISTORICAL SICNIFICANCE

DAVIS-BENTLY HOUSE

212 South Fifth Street

Built in 1854 with additions in 1890.
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

COCKROFT HOUSE
215 Bouth Fifth Street
Built c¢. 1859 by Benjamin Wilson
Wilson, a publisher, resided here in 1857. He deeded
the eastern portion of the lot *o the Diseciples of Christ

for their meeting house, located directly east.
HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE
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33. BENJAMIN WILSON HOUSE
227 South PFifth Street
Built e. 1848
Wilson and his three brothers came from England and began
the Disciples of Christ Church and also published a local
newspaper in Geneva. A Bible scholar, he published The
Emphatic Diaglott, a translation of the Bible, still in use today.
HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

34. BEERS HOUSE

315 Scuth Fifth Street

Built in 1863 with remodeling ¢, 1867
In 1863, the house was sold by Eldridge Hall to
Carolyn Bampson for $1,100. It was remodeled and listed
in Bently's Kane County Gazette of 1867 ana praised as
"one of Geneva's finest residences." The house also appeared
on an 1869 map.

ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

35. HOYT HOUSE
318 South Fifth Street
Built in 1906 by Frank Lloya Wright
This is a prime Prairie School building in Geneva.
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

36. PLATO HOUSE
k15 South Fifth Street
Built in 1857
Served as the residence of W. B. Plato, a well known
Geneva lawyer and legislator.
ARCHITECTURAL AND HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

37. KASTNER HOUSE
328 South Sixth Street
Date unknown ’
This was formerly a store for the Kastner Family,
Geneva merchants. The many Kastner relatives living in
this neighborhood resulted in the name, "Kastnerville."
HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

38. W. H. HOWELL COMPANY BUILDINGS
West State Street ang Nerth River Lane
Built ¢, 1862
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This complex is located on the site of industrial
buildings dating from early Geneva. The W. H. Howell
Company, a partnership of William Howell arnd W. D.
Turner, manufactured iron equipment. In 1936, the
company relocated to St. Charles and the buildings were
abandoned, Subsequently, the complex has undergone several
changes of use and ownership.

HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

35. SMITH BUILDING

22 West State Street’

Built e. 1900
The building was originally located at 207 West State
Street and served as a movie theater and then = plumbing
house. It was moved to its present location across the
Street in 1915.

ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

ho. LANCE HOUSE
25 West State Street
Built c. 1866
ARCHITECTURAL = SIGNIFICANCE

L1. WRATE BLOCK

101 West State Street

Built e. 1856 ,
The building originally housed George Pattens general
store in 1857, one of the earliest stores in Geneva., A
fire in e, 1891 damaged the structure and az new facade was con-
structed in the follewing year.

HISTORICAL AND ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

L2, YATES BUILDING
121-123 West State Street
Built c. 1866
Bartholomew Yates, a Kane County sheriff, built this
structure as a residence. It was later used for commercial

purposes,
ARCHITECTURAL AND HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

b3, COMMERCIAL BLOCK
202-206 West State Street
Built c¢. 1885
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b,

Ls.

L6,

T,

L8.

These are early Geneva commercial structures,
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

HOTEL GENEVA (HYATT HOUSE)

224 West State Street

Built in 1873
The present hotel was built after the original Genevs House
burned in 1872. Constructed with the help of community
efforts, the hotel was built with the desire of reinstating
a first class hotel in the city.

HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

KENDALL BUILDING

307-309 West State

Built in 1909
This was the first Swedish bakery in Geneva. The Western
half of the building was Nelson's Confectionery. Nelson
was also owner of Nelson Transfer.

HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

EXCELSIOR HOUSE/SODERSTROM'S STCRE

313 West State Street

Built <. 1880
First used as a boarding house, the building was Soderstrom's
store and hat shop in 1890. The structure has been sided with
asphalt shingles,.

HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

REED HOUSE

L22 West State Street

Built in 1863 by J. Reed
J. Reed was & shoemaker who bought the lot for $26.80 from
Benjamin Fidley.

ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

WORSLEY HOUSE

220 James Street

Built in 1861
In 1856, Timothy Worsley took over the Samuel Clark Store
and purchased three lots in block 56 the next year. FHe
mortgaged property in 1861 to build this house.

HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE
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49.  AUGUSTUS CONANT HOUSE
18 Campbell Street
Built in 1843
Augustus Conant was the first minister to the First Christian
Congregation of Geneva and was a leading figure in the community.
HISTORICAL SIGNI FICANCE

50. TISACC WILSON HOUSE #1
115 Campbell Street
Built ¢. 1852
This was the home of the distinguished Ceneva Jjudge, I. G. Wilson.
HISTORICAL AND ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

51. DISCIPLES OF CHRIST MEETING HOUSE
410 Campbell Street
Built in 1857
This was the church established by Benjamin Wilson
ARCHITECTURAL AND HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

52. NOADIAH KFNDALL HOUSE
521 Campbell Street
Built in 1857 by Winship and Sheet
The house was built for Noadiah and Lydia Kendall in 1857,
Builders Winship and Sheet were also dealers in stoves and hardware.
HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

>3. SHACKLETON HOUSE

L01 Franklin Street

Built c. 1854 with additions c. 1869
Shackleton bought two lots from Benjamin Wilson in 1854 for
$6c. In May of that year, the house was scld to Samuel Fletcher
who remodeled the structure. By 1869, two more owners had
enlarged the building.

ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

sk, LEBARCN-TURNER HOUSE
113 Fulton Street
Built c. 1867 by Clark and Long
The house was sold in 1969 for $3,300 and remained for many
years under the ownership of the Turner Family.
HISTORICAL SIONIFICANCE
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55. RESIDENCE
500 Tulton Street
Built c. 1873
The house was built for Mr. and Mrs. Charles Dodson, who
were the son and daughter-in-law of an early Geneva settler.

ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

56. DAVID MARTIN HOUSE
525 Fulton Street
Built c. 1880 A
David Martin was an owner of the house. He was a dealer in
furniture, upholstery, and repairing.
ARCHITECTURAL AND HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

SITES AND STRUCTURES CONTRIBUTING TO THE CHARACTER OF THE DISTRICT:

57. DuPAGE LIBRARY SYSTEM BUILDING
127 South First Street
Built in 1913
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

58. RESIDENCE
311 South First Street
Built in 1868
This house is basically unaltered, It appeared on an 1869
map essentially as it appears today.
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

59. JOSHEL HCUSE
127 South Second Street
Bullding in 1916 by the Wilson Brothers
The architects, Wilson Brothers, worked closely with
Frank Lloyd Wright.
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

60. HOTCHKISS-HERRINGTON HOUSE
327 South Second Street
Built in 1855
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

1. RESIDENCE
312 South Third Street
Date unknown
ARCHETECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE
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€2. RESIDENCE
427 South Fourth Street
Date unknown
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

£3. RESIDENCE
213 South Pifth Street
Built in 1893
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

6L. GAUNT AND FIELDS BANK
209 West State Street
Built c. 1880
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

65. RESIDENCE
527 James Street
Built ec. 1890
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

66. RESIDENCE
415 Franklin Street
Built <. 1900
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

67. RESIDENCE
522 PFulton Street
Built e. 1900
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

68. RESIDENCE
528 Fulton Street
Built e. 1906
ARCHITECTURAL SICNIFICANCE
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District extends east along the southern curbline of West State Street to the
intersection of West State Street and South Fourth Street, thence north along
the eastern curbline of South Fourth Street to the northern property line of
the property at the northeast corner of West State Street and South Fourth
Street, thence east alcng interior property lines to the western property line
of 12 North Second Street, thence north, east, and socuth along the property
lines of 12 North Second Street, thence east across South Second Street and
aleng interior property lines to the western bank of the Fox River, thence
south along the bank of the Fox River to the Chicago and Northwestern
Railroad tracks, thence west to the southwest corner of S03 South First
Street, thence north along the eastern curbline of South First Street to the
intersection of South First Street and Scuth Street, thence west along the
northern curbline of South Street to the intersection of South Street and
South Fourth Street, thence south, west, and north along the property lines
of 502 South Fourth Street, across South Street to the northern curbline of
South Street, thence west to the intersection of South Street and South

Sixth Street, thence north along the eastern curbline of South Sixth SBtreet
to the intersection of Scuth Sixth Street and Fulton Streets, then west,
north, and east along the property lines of 328 South Sixth Street across
South Sixth Street to the eastern curbline of South Sixth Street, thence
north to the point of beginning.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Beginning at the intersection of West State and South Sixth
Street, the boundary of the rroposed Central Geneva Historie
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